

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE
AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTH LEGISLATURE
AT THE

SECOND REGULAR SESSION

January 4, 1978 to April 6, 1978

FIRST SPECIAL SESSION

(No laws enacted)

September 6, 1978 to September 15, 1978

SECOND SPECIAL SESSION

October 18, 1978

THIRD SPECIAL SESSION

December 6, 1978

PUBLISHED BY THE DIRECTOR OF LEGISLATIVE RESEARCH IN ACCORDANCE WITH MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED, TITLE 3, SECTION 164, SUBSECTION 6.

K. J. Printing
Augusta, Maine
1979

PUBLIC LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE
AS PASSED AT THE
SECOND REGULAR SESSION
of the
ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTH LEGISLATURE
January 4, 1978 to April 6, 1978

5. Staff support.

A. The department shall supply reasonable staff support requested by the board.

6. Transition.

A. Of the initial members appointed to the board, 3 shall serve for a term of one year and 2 shall serve for a term of 2 years. After expiration of the initial term of any member of the board, any appointment to the membership shall be for a term of 2 years.

§ 303. Air search procedures

The commissioner may establish agreements with public or private agencies and organizations to assist in air search operations.

Sec. 49. 36 MRSA § 1482, sub-§ 1, ¶ A, as amended by PL 1965, c. 378, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

A. For the privilege of operating aircraft within the State, each heavier and lighter than air aircraft so operated and owned or controlled by a resident of this State, or a nonresident operating for compensation or hire within this State and required to register under Title 6, shall be subject to such excise tax as follows: A sum equal to 9 mills on each dollar of the maker's average equipped price for the first or current year of model; 7 mills for the 2nd year; 5 mills for the 3rd year; 4 mills for the 4th year; and 3 mills for the 5th and succeeding years. The minimum tax shall be \$10. Nonresidents of this State who operate aircraft within this State for compensation or hire shall pay 1/12 of the total excise tax as required in this subsection for each calendar month or fraction thereof that the aircraft remains in the State.

Sec. 50. 36 MRSA § 1483, sub-§ 4, is amended to read:

4. Dealers or manufacturers. Vehicles owned by bona fide dealers or manufacturers of the vehicles, which vehicles are held solely for demonstration and sale and constitute stock in trade, and aircraft registered in accordance with Title 6, section 53;

Sec. 51. 36 MRSA § 1483, sub-§ 14, is enacted to read:

14. Antique and experimental aircraft. Antique and experimental aircraft as defined in Title 6, section 3, subsection 10-A and subsection 18-E and registered according to the provisions of Title 6.

Effective July 6, 1978

CHAPTER 679

AN ACT to Establish Standard Interest and Penalty Provisions for the Tax Laws.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

Sec. 1. 36 MRSA c. 7 is enacted to read:

CHAPTER 7

UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

§ 186. Interest

Any person who fails to pay any tax imposed under this Title on or before the last date prescribed for payment shall be liable for interest on the tax, calculated from that date, at the rate of $\frac{3}{4}\%$ for each month or fraction thereof that the tax remains unpaid. For purposes of this section, the last date prescribed for payment of tax shall be determined without regard to any extension of time permitted for filing a return. A tax which is upheld on administrative or judicial review shall bear interest from the date on which payment would have been due in the absence of review. Any tax, interest or penalty imposed by this Title which has been erroneously refunded and which is recoverable by the State Tax Assessor shall bear interest at the above rate from the date of payment of the refund. All interest shall be recoverable by the State Tax Assessor in the same manner as if it were a tax imposed under this Title. If the failure to pay a tax when required is explained to the satisfaction of the State Tax Assessor, he may abate or waive the payment of all or any part of that interest.

§ 187. Penalties

1. Failure to file return. Any person who fails to make and file any return required under this Title at or before the time the return becomes due shall be liable for a penalty of \$5 or 5% of the tax due, whichever is greater, for each month or fraction thereof during which the failure continues, provided that the penalty shall not exceed, in the aggregate, \$25 or 25% of the tax due, whichever is greater.

2. False return. Any person who files a return under this Title which is materially incorrect shall be liable for a penalty. If the return is materially incorrect because of negligence or intentional disregard of this Title or of any ruling, rule or regulation of the State Tax Assessor issued pursuant to this Title, without intent to defraud, the penalty shall be in the amount of \$10 or 10% of the deficiency, whichever is greater. If the return is materially incorrect because of fraud with intent to evade the tax, the penalty shall be in the amount of \$50 or 50% of the deficiency, whichever is greater.

3. Failure to pay tax. Any person who fails to pay, on or before its due date, any tax due under this Title shall be liable for a penalty of \$5 or 5% of the unpaid tax, whichever is greater, for each month or fraction thereof during which the failure continues, provided that the penalty shall not exceed, in the aggregate, \$25 or 25%

of the unpaid tax, whichever is greater. Unless otherwise provided in this Title, an amount declared by a person to be due on a return filed by that person is due on the due date of the return, without regard to any extension of time permitted for filing the return and an amount assessed upon a person by the State Tax Assessor is due immediately upon the failure to proceed to the next available step of administrative or judicial review, except that, where no further judicial review is available, the amount is due on the 10th day after that person's receipt of notice that the assessment has been upheld.

4. **Insufficient funds check.** Any person who makes payment of an amount due under this Title by means of a check, if the check is returned unpaid by the bank on which it is drawn because of insufficient funds or the closing or nonexistence of the account on which it is drawn, shall be liable for a penalty of \$10 or 1% of the check amount, whichever is greater.

5. **Generally.** Each penalty provided by this section shall be in addition to any interest and other penalties provided by this section and other law, but interest shall not accrue on the penalty. This section shall not apply to any filing or payment responsibility pursuant to Part 2. Each penalty shall be recoverable by the State Tax Assessor in the same manner as if it were a tax imposed under this Title. For cause, the State Tax Assessor may waive or abate all or any part of any penalty imposed by this section. For purposes of this section, the term "person" includes an individual, corporation, or partnership or any officer or employee of a corporation, including a dissolved corporation, or a member or employee of a partnership who, as the officer, employee or member, is under a duty to perform the act in respect of which the violation occurs.

Sec. 2. 36 MRSA § 1145, last 2 sentences, as amended by PL 1971, c. 616, § 14, are repealed and the following enacted in their place:

The real estate is held to the State for payment of those taxes on October 1st.

Sec. 3. 36 MRSA § 1232, 2nd sentence, as amended by PL 1973, c. 625, § 253, is repealed as follows:

~~Interest on such state taxes shall be charged at the rate of 6% per year after the first day of October following the date of the assessment.~~

Sec. 4. 36 MRSA § 1281, next to last sentence is repealed as follows:

~~Interest shall accrue on the unpaid balance of tax secured by such mortgage, at the rate of 6% per year.~~

Sec. 5. 36 MRSA § 1541, as amended by PL 1973, c. 625, § 259, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

§ 1541. Public reserved lots held for payment of taxes

The timber and grass claimed on the public reserved lots shall be held to the State for the payment of those taxes which may be lawfully assessed against them.

Sec. 6. 36 MRSA § 1543, last sentence is amended to read:

Any owner may redeem his interest in such public reserved lots by tendering to the State Tax Assessor, within one year after the date of the forfeiture, his proportional part of all the sums due on such lots ~~together with interest at 6% a year from the date of the forfeiture~~ and \$1 for a release.

Sec. 6-A. 36 MRSA § 1951, last ¶ is repealed.

Sec. 7. 36 MRSA § 1952, first ¶, last 3 sentences are repealed and the following enacted in their place:

For cause, the State Tax Assessor may abate all or any part of the taxes.

Sec. 8. 36 MRSA § 2112 is repealed.

Sec. 9. 36 MRSA § 2352, first ¶, last sentence, as amended by PL 1973, c. 788, § 189, is further amended to read:

If any corporation, company, association or person fails to pay the taxes required or imposed by sections 2623 and 2683, the State Tax Assessor shall forthwith commence a civil action in the name of the State, for the recovery of the same with interest ~~at the rate of 10% a year~~ and penalties.

Sec. 10. 36 MRSA § 2352, last ¶ is amended to read:

In addition to other remedies for the collection of state taxes upon any corporation, such taxes with interest ~~at the rate of 10% a year~~ and penalties may be recovered by a civil action in the name of the State.

Sec. 11. 36 MRSA § 2521-A, 2nd ¶, last 2 sentences and the 3rd ¶, as repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 377, are repealed as follows:

~~Any insurance company, association or attorney in fact of a reciprocal insurer who neglects to make returns or pay the amount of tax shown due shall be liable to a penalty of \$5 a day for each day in arrears or 1/2 of 1% of tax liability, whichever is greater, together with interest at the rate of 1% per month or fraction thereof due on demand by the State Tax Assessor, and recoverable in a civil action. The State Tax Assessor may waive penalty for cause.~~

~~Any insurance company, association or attorney in fact of a reciprocal insurer which elects to pay estimated tax on the preceding year's liability but fails to pay such amount for the quarter shall be liable to a penalty of 25% of the understated~~

~~amount. Any insurance company, association or attorney in fact of a reciprocal insurer which elects to pay tax on the current year basis who at the time of filing the final return understated reported liability by more than 20% shall be liable to a penalty of 25% of such understated liability. The foregoing penalties shall be due on demand by the State Tax Assessor, who may waive penalty for cause, and such penalties shall be recoverable in a civil action.~~

Sec. 12. 36 MRSA § 2622 is repealed.

Sec. 13. 36 MRSA § 2628, last sentence is repealed as follows:

~~Any railroad corporation, association or person operating any railroad in the State, which refuses or neglects to make returns required by law or to exhibit to the Public Utilities Commission its books for the purposes aforesaid, or makes returns which the president, clerk, treasurer or other person certifying to such returns knows to be false forfeits not less than \$1,000 nor more than \$10,000, to be recovered by indictment or by a civil action in any county into which the railroad operated extends.~~

Sec. 14. 36 MRSA § 2686, 3rd sentence, as repealed and replaced by PL 1973, c. 717, § 3, is repealed as follows:

~~Any corporation, association or person who at the time of filing its reconciliation return understated its reported liability by more than 20% shall be liable to a penalty of 25% of such understated liability due on demand by the State Tax Assessor and recoverable in a civil action.~~

Sec. 15. 36 MRSA § 2687, as repealed and replaced by PL 1973, c. 717, § 4, is repealed.

Sec. 16. 36 MRSA § 2906, 5th sentence, as amended by PL 1975, c. 11, § 1, is repealed as follows:

~~If such report is not filed by the last day of the month such certificate holder shall be liable to a penalty of \$5 a day for each day in arrears, or 1/2 of 1% of tax liability, whichever is greater.~~

Sec. 17. 36 MRSA § 2906, 6th sentence, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 11, § 1, is repealed as follows:

~~If tax is not paid when due, interest shall accrue on such unpaid tax at the rate of 1/2 of 1% per month or fraction thereof.~~

Sec. 18. 36 MRSA § 2906, 7th sentence, as amended by PL 1975, c. 11, § 1, is repealed as follows:

~~Such penalty and interest shall be due on demand by the State Tax Assessor and recoverable in a civil action.~~

Sec. 19. 36 MRSA § 2906, 8th sentence is repealed as follows:

~~The State Tax Assessor may waive penalties for cause.~~

Sec. 20. 36 MRSA § 2906, 9th sentence is amended to read:

Each certificate holder shall, within 15 days after demand made ~~on~~ upon him by the State Tax Assessor, pay a tax of 9¢ per gallon upon each gallon of such fuel upon which the tax has not been paid, together with interest ~~at the rate of 1/2% per month or fraction thereof and penalties~~, which upon an audit the State Tax Assessor may find to have been received into the State during ~~all or any part of the~~ preceding 2 calendar years by the certificate holder and not properly accounted for in a report or in accordance with law, provided such demand is made within one year of the close of the period covered by such audit.

Sec. 21. 36 MRSA § 2906, 10th sentence is repealed as follows:

~~A licensed exporter shall be liable for tax plus penalty of 25% of tax for any fuel purchased tax free for export but not in fact exported from this State.~~

Sec. 22. 36 MRSA § 3030, as last amended by PL 1973. c. 7, § 6, is repealed.

Sec. 23. 36 MRSA § 3035, 3rd ¶, last sentence, as amended by PL 1973. c. 7, § 7, is repealed as follows:

~~If such report is not filed or such payment is not rendered by the last day of the month such dealer shall be liable to interest at the rate of 1/2% per month or fraction thereof together with a penalty of \$1 a day for each day in arrears or 10% of tax liability, whichever is greater, due on demand by the State Tax Assessor and recoverable in a civil action.~~

Sec. 24. 36 MRSA § 3035, 4th ¶, last sentence, as enacted by PL 1973. c. 7, § 8, is repealed as follows:

~~The tax so assessed shall bear interest at the rate of 1/2% per month or fraction thereof, and a penalty of 10% shall be imposed for negligent failure to pay tax when due.~~

Sec. 25. 36 MRSA § 3683 is repealed.

Sec. 26. 36 MRSA § 3742, 2nd sentence is repealed as follows:

~~If the tax is not paid when due, interest at the rate of 10% annually shall be charged and collected from the time the same became due.~~

Sec. 26-A. 36 MRSA § 3920 is repealed.

Sec. 27. 36 MRSA § 4310, first sentence is repealed as follows:

~~Any processor or shipper of blueberries, who shall make any false or fraudulent report or return required by this chapter, or who shall evade or violate any of the provisions of such chapter, shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$50 per ton of fresh blueberries involved or fraction thereof.~~

Sec. 28. 36 MRSA § 4512, first sentence is repealed as follows:

~~Any handler of milk who shall make any false or fraudulent report or return required by this chapter, or who shall evade or violate any of the provisions of this chapter, shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$500.~~

Sec. 29. 36 MRSA § 4531, first sentence, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 444, § 6, is repealed as follows:

~~Any dealer of milk who shall make any false or fraudulent report or return required by this chapter, or who shall evade or violate any of the provisions of this chapter, shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$500.~~

Sec. 30. 36 MRSA § 4572, first sentence is repealed as follows:

~~Any shipper of potatoes, as defined in section 4562, who shall make any false or fraudulent report or return required by this chapter, or who shall evade or violate any of the provisions of this chapter, shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$500.~~

Sec. 31. 36 MRSA § 4638, as amended by PL 1973, c. 513, § 22, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

§ 4638. False returns; violations

The wholesale seafood dealer's and processor's license and resident or nonresident interstate shellfish transportation license of any shellfish dealer who is liable for penalties under chapter 7 shall be suspended by the Administrative Court in a manner consistent with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act until the penalties and the related tax are paid in full. Whenever any shellfish dealer shall fail to pay any tax due under this chapter within the time limited, the Attorney General shall enforce payment of that tax by civil action against the shellfish dealer for the amount of that tax in either the Superior Court in Kennebec County or in the District Court in the division in which the shellfish dealer has his residence or established place of business.

Sec. 32. 36 MRSA § 4641-E, last sentence, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 572, § 1, is amended to read:

If he shall determine there is a deficiency of taxes due under this chapter, he shall assess such deficiency, together with interest at the rate of 9% per year from the

~~date of recording and penalties~~, giving notice to the persons liable, but no such assessment can be made more than 2 years after the date of recording.

Sec. 33. 36 MRSA § 4700, first sentence, as amended by PL 1973, c. 513, § 22, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

If any packer is liable for penalties under chapter 7, his wholesale seafood dealer's and processor's license and state license to pack sardines are subject to suspension by the Administrative Court in a manner consistent with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act and his packer's certificate shall be suspended by the State Tax Assessor until the penalties and related tax are paid in full.

Sec. 34. 36 MRSA §§ 5272 to 5274, as enacted by P&SL 1969, c. 154, § F and as amended, are repealed.

Effective July 6, 1978

CHAPTER 680

AN ACT to Abolish the Mental Health and Mental Retardation Improvement Fund and Make Provision for Future Funding of Existing Programs from the General Fund.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

Sec. 1. 22 MRSA § 3172-A, as enacted by PL 1977, c. 482, § 1, is repealed.

Sec. 2. 22 MRSA § 3172-B is enacted to read:

§ 3172-B. Moneys received; credit to General Fund; unencumbered balance

1. Fund. All moneys received by the Department of Mental Health and Corrections under section 3172-A which are generated by services rendered at any of the mental health and mental retardation institutions operated by that department shall be credited to the General Fund.

2. Transfer of cash receipts. An amount equal to 100% of the total cash receipts in any fiscal year shall be transferred to the General Fund.

3. Transfer of unencumbered balances. All unencumbered balances generated from revenues received in prior years shall be transferred to the General Fund.